
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF WEST VIRGINIA

BECKLEY DIVISION
___________________________________

)
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA )

)
v. ) Criminal No. 5:14-cr-00244

)
DONALD L. BLANKENSHIP )
___________________________________ )

MOTION TO COMPEL COMPLIANCE WITH BRADY ORDER
AND FOR OTHER APPROPRIATE RELIEF

On June 12, 2015, this Court ordered the government “to designate and disclose to

defense counsel any and all Brady material,” including by disclosing exculpatory information

contained in the government’s notes of witness interviews and attorney proffers and by

specifically identifying any known exculpatory material contained in the government’s four-

million page document production. ECF No. 279 at 14. In its response to this Order, the

government misapplies Brady, fails to designate all items in its production that meet the proper

definition of Brady, and withholds material – not currently possessed by the defense – that it was

obligated by the Court’s order and the Constitution to produce. Among other items, the

government has failed to produce in response to the Court’s order any information from the notes

of any of the hundreds of witness interviews it conducted.

Accordingly, the defense hereby moves for:

(1) An opportunity for the defense to present to the Court, ex parte and in camera,

confidential information from the defense investigation that demonstrates that the government

has not produced, in any form, certain exculpatory information.

(2) An order compelling the government immediately to produce all notes of witness

interviews and attorney proffers, without restriction (or in the alternative, to lodge with the Court
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all such notes for in camera review and/or for the appellate record). As noted above, the

government produced no information from any of these notes in response to the Court’s June 12

order.

(3) An order compelling the government immediately to produce all exculpatory

material from MSHA’s files. In response to the Court’s order, the government failed to identify

a single document from MSHA, despite the obvious exculpatory nature of some of the MSHA

material in the government’s production. Additionally, as set forth in a separate pending motion,

ECF No. 261, Mr. Blankenship believes the government has failed to conduct the required search

for Rule 16 and exculpatory material in MSHA’s files.

--and--

(4) An order compelling the government, again, to immediately designate all items in

its document production that meet the proper definition of Brady. In responding to the Court’s

order requiring such designation, the government minimized the definition of what is

exculpatory, failed to identify exculpatory items, and, in turn, did not comply with the Court’s

initial order.

The grounds for this motion are set forth below.

BACKGROUND

On April 28, 2015, the defense moved to compel the government to identify, among other

things, all Brady material contained in its four-million page document production. See ECF No.

245. On May 6, 2015, the defense separately moved to compel the government to produce all

notes of witness interviews conducted by the government that contain Brady information (on top

of the sanitized memos of the interviews that the government already produced) and statements

from any attorney proffers to the government that contain Brady information. See ECF No. 248.
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On June 12, 2015, the Court granted both motions. See ECF No. 279. In doing so, the

Court “direct[ed] the United States to designate and disclose to defense counsel any and all

Brady material by the close of business on June 22, 2015.” Id. at 14.

On June 22, 2015, the government sent a letter to defense counsel in response to this

Order. See Ex. A. This letter sets forth a stunningly cramped interpretation of Brady. It claims

that evidence that Mr. Blankenship and alleged co-conspirators expressed “concern for safety” is

not exculpatory. Id. at 1. It claims that evidence that Mr. Blankenship and alleged co-

conspirators actually complied with mine safety laws is not exculpatory. Id. It even goes so far

as to say that “the United States does not know of any evidence that truly tends to exculpate

Defendant.” Id. (emphasis added).

Apparently as a result of this erroneous view of what is exculpatory, the government did

not produce a single page or excerpt from any of the notes of any of the hundreds of witnesses

interviews it conducted. Nor did the government produce the substance of any of the notes of its

witness interviews.

While the government did disclose, in response to the Order, two attorney proffers that it

had never before disclosed, its summaries of the proffers were remarkably brief (a combined

three sentences), appear carefully worded to minimize the information or to put it in the light

most favorable to the government, and obviously do not reflect the full substance of what was

said.1

1 The government’s letter discloses that counsel for one witness disclosed: “Mr. Blankenship was
involved in the development of violation reduction targets and report cards for the so-called hazard
elimination program. [The witness] also believed that Massey made some degree of effort to comply with
mine safety laws.” Ex. A at 2. As to the other attorney proffer disclosed by the government, the letter
states: “counsel stated that [the witness] believed that Mr. Blankenship cared above safety.” Id.
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Likewise, while the government provided a list of items from within its document

production that it says “Defendant might claim are Brady material,” the list is demonstrably

incomplete.

ARGUMENT

A. The Government Is Withholding Exculpatory Material.

The government is not in compliance with its constitutional obligations to produce

exculpatory material. Notwithstanding the government’s repeated statements to the contrary, see

e.g., ECF No. 133 at 2 (government representation that “all Brady material known to the United

States[] has been provided”), confidential investigation conducted by defense counsel has

revealed that the government is withholding – and has not produced to the defense in any form –

exculpatory material. Because this information is confidential and would reveal, inter alia,

defense work product, the defense requests an opportunity to present it, ex parte and in camera,

to the Court. This ex parte presentation will identify particular exculpatory material that the

government has withheld altogether from its document productions. The fact that the defense

has discovered some material that the government has suppressed does not excuse the

suppression. Rather, it makes clear under these circumstances that there are quantities of equally

exculpatory material that the defense has not been able to discover and about which only the

government knows.

Separately, the government has not complied with the Court’s order. The Court’s order

required production of exculpatory material from notes of the witness interviews. The

government conducted more than 350 interviews, and the memoranda of many of those

interviews make plain that persons interviewed gave exculpatory information to the government.
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In response to the Court’s order, the government has produced no information from the notes of

any of its 350 interviews.2

The government’s response to the Court’s order does not designate a single document

from the portion of the production supplied by MSHA. Defense investigation has revealed,

among other things, that:

• Three months into the alleged conspiracy, the MSHA district manager sent a letter
to the superintendent of UBB stating that a potential pattern of violations “does
not exist” at UBB and further stating: “I wish to congratulate you, your staff, and
the employees on their efforts over the past several months to improve
compliance which has resulted in improved safety and health working conditions
for the miners at your mine. … Again, congratulations for your achievements.”

• Later during the alleged conspiracy, an MSHA ventilation specialist advised his
supervisor regarding UBB that “there isn’t anything wrong there,” that “the
company is doing what they need,” that “they have come a long way and are a lot
better than they used to be,” and that “several” junior MSHA inspectors “have
cited things [at UBB] that were not violations.”

• Throughout the alleged conspiracy, MSHA reviewed dozens of alleged violations
at UBB to determine whether any might be knowing or willful. Multiple senior
MSHA officials concluded that none of the alleged violations even warranted an
investigation on the issue.

• At the conclusion of the quarterly MSHA inspection of UBB that ended on March
31, 2010, mere days before the end of the alleged conspiracy, MSHA inspectors
concluded that UBB had no major outstanding safety issues and found the mine to
be in “good condition.”

Yet the government’s response to the Court’s order identifies no exculpatory material from the

universe of MSHA documents that it produced.3

2 It, of course, is well-settled that formal witness memos prepared by the government (mainly, Form 302s)
“reflect the input of the agent” who authors them; that “there is clearly room for misunderstanding or
outright error” when the agent transfers information from his or her rough notes to the final memo; and
that “the rough notes … might be more credible and favorable to the defendant’s position.” United States
v. Harrison, 524 F.2d 421, 427-28 (D.C. Cir. 1975).

3 Still pending before the Court is a separate motion seeking both Rule 16 and Brady material in the
possession of MSHA, but not yet produced to the defense. See ECF No. 261, 273, 276. As set forth in
that motion, Mr. Blankenship believes that there are documents from MSHA files that the government has
yet to produce that contain Rule 16 and Brady material.
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The government’s response to Court’s order also fails to identify items or information in

Massey documents that are obviously exculpatory. By way of example and example only, the

government neglected to identify: (i) an email from the individual referenced in the indictment

as the “Known Massey Executive” stating that he had been “charged by [Mr. Blankenship] to

review each violation and treat each violation individually and try to put action items in place as

to not receive the violation again;” (ii) a memo from the individual referenced in the indictment

as the “Known UBB Executive” putting in place a procedure “to eliminate all violations of these

types” and further stating: “Should we receive any more of this type of violation, discipline will

follow and will be severe;” (iii) another memo from the “Known UBB Executive” to the general

manager of the mine attaching a list of potential violations and directing: “it is all to be corrected

and the same ridiculousness is not to be found again;” and (iv) an interview memo of a UBB

miner that states he “never experienced any major safety issues,” he “never experienced any

issues with ineffective or inappropriate ventilation,” he “never witnessed nor was ever asked to

do anything that he felt was a safety violation,” and “Massey always pushed safety.” The fact

that the defense was able to find these Brady “needles” in the “haystacks” of 4 million pages of

documents is fortuitous and does not relieve the government of its obligation to comply with the

Court’s order. There are certainly more, considering the government’s mistaken view of Brady.

Finally, the government’s response to the Court’s Brady order appears to identify no

impeachment material. For example, the government gave many individuals immunity

agreements in exchange for their cooperation. But while the government produced the immunity

agreements themselves, it has not identified any information relating to those agreements, such

as information related to any bargaining and/or negotiations with these individuals or their

counsel or to any threats of prosecution made to such persons.
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The government is suppressing exculpatory material that it is obligated under Brady and

the Court’s order to identify or produce.

B. The Government Misconstrues Its Constitutional Obligation to Produce
Exculpatory Evidence.

To justify the withholding of exculpatory information, the government advances an

erroneous and absurdly narrow view of what is exculpatory. The government’s letter states “all

of the evidence of which it is aware” supports guilt and that the “the United States does not know

of any evidence that truly tends to exculpate Defendant.” Ex. A at 1. Thus in effect, the

government takes the position that there is no Brady material at all. This is a preposterous view

of the evidence.

For instance, the superseding indictment charges Mr. Blankenship with agreeing with

others (i.e., conspiring) to willfully violate safety regulations. Yet in the middle of the

indictment period, Mr. Blankenship put in place a program to accomplish the opposite – to

reduce violations and eliminate the hazards that give rise to violations. The program, called the

“Kill the Spider” program (the goal being to eliminate the root cause of the violations rather than

to merely knock down webs that could be spun again) was implemented by a working group of

members of executive management called the Hazard Elimination Committee. It commenced

with a meeting of hundreds of Massey employees, including mine foremen and superintendents,

convened in a local high school auditorium, during which the contours of the hazard elimination

program were outlined. Executive management conveyed that it was a “zero tolerance”

program. In any reasonable estimation of the evidence, this hazard elimination initiative is

inconsistent with the alleged conspiracy charged in Count One and is equally inconsistent with

the charge in Counts Two and Three that it was false to say “we strive to be in compliance.” Yet
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in the government’s flawed view, there is no evidence that “truly tends to exculpate Defendant.”

Ex. A at 1.

Likewise, the superseding indictment alleges that Mr. Blankenship furthered the alleged

conspiracy by writing terse notes to subordinates imposing pressure to increase production and

ignore safety. Superseding Indictment ¶¶ 59-63. Yet Mr. Blankenship wrote terse notes on

safety as well, such as a note to Massey’s compliance officer on the subject of violations that

states “you won’t make a difference until written warnings are placed into people’s files and

after a couple of discharges occur;” a note on a violation report stating “Propose corrective

action … Make a presentation to me about what we need to do;” and a note on another violation

report stating: “Tell me in writing about these violations, who were responsible, what was done

wrong, what processes could have prevented it” and further stating “We need to be assigning

every violation to an individual responsible … those clearly not getting the message should be

clearly given the message.”4 If a handwritten note from Mr. Blankenship pushing production is

inculpatory, as the indictment suggests, then these notes are plainly exculpatory.5 Again,

however, the government says there is no evidence that tends to exculpate Mr. Blankenship. See

Ex. A at 1.

The government’s letter goes so far as to suggest that evidence Mr. Blankenship showed

“general concern” for safety is not exculpatory. See id. The superseding indictment charges Mr.

Blankenship with prioritizing profits over safety. See Superseding Indictment ¶ 58. It charges

him with scheming to violate safety laws. And it contends that it was false for the company to

4 The government not only fails to see such notes as Brady, it’s response to the Court’s order does not
even identify the first example as an item that the defense “might claim” is Brady.

5 These handwritten documents are an especially important part of relief granted by the Court because
they cannot be located via electronic searches from within the government’s massive production.
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say that “we strive to be in compliance.” If Mr. Blankenship showed “concern” for safety rather

than disregard for it as alleged in the superseding indictment, then of course such evidence is

exculpatory. It is not subject to debate.6

Simply put, any evidence that tends to negate guilt or any element of any charged

offense, any evidence that tends to support a defense, and any evidence that tends to impeach the

credibility of any government witness must be disclosed. See United States v. Safavian, 233

F.R.D. 12, 17-18 (D.D.C. 2005) (“The meaning of the term ‘favorable’ under Brady is not

difficult to discern. It is any information in the possession of the government . . . that relates to

guilt or punishment and that tends to help the defense by either bolstering the defense case or

impeaching potential prosecution witnesses.”).

It does not matter if the government thinks its own evidence is more compelling. It does

not matter if the government believes the exculpatory evidence is inconsistent with other

evidence. If evidence tends to negate guilt, support a defense, or impeach a government witness,

it must be produced. The government’s letter makes clear that it is not implementing these basic

principles. This is why it has failed to comply with this Court’s order and why it has failed to

produce and identify exculpatory material.

6 The government’s letter similarly contends that evidence of instances in which Mr. Blankenship or
alleged co-conspirators complied with safety regulations does not constitute Brady. See Ex. A at 1.
Again, this reflects an alarming misapplication of the law. The indictment alleges that Mr. Blankenship
knowingly agreed with others to willfully violate safety laws and that he “fostered … UBB’s practice of
routine safety violations.” Superseding Indictment at ¶ 1 (emphasis added). Evidence that Mr.
Blankenship or other potential co-conspirators did not engage in a practice of routine safety violations and
instead, when consulted, specifically sought compliance with safety standards, is unqualified Brady. It
tends to negate the mens rea requirement for the formation of a conspiracy, the mens rea requirement for
the underling offense and indeed the government’s entire theory of prosecution. The government
attempts to justify its remarkable position by comparing this case to a drug case. Sale of drugs is per se
unlawful. Violations of safety regulations are not. Indeed, most violations of safety regulations are mere
civil infractions. They become crimes only if the violation was willful. See 30 U.S.C. § 820(d). This
indictment charges defendant and unnamed others with a conspiracy to commit willful violations.
Evidence of efforts to prevent violations by miners and their supervisors is inconsistent with such a
conspiracy and therefore exculpatory. It also shows that the so-called false statement was in fact not false
at all.
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C. The Defense Has Defined for the Government What Is Exculpatory.

To avoid this problem, the defense laid out for the government in detailed letters the

categories of material that constitute Brady in this case. The letters sent on December 12, 2014,

and June 16, 2015, laying out these categories are attached. See Exs. B & C. The defense also

described in prior pleadings the range of information that is exculpatory. See ECF No. 258 at 3-

4; ECF No. 261 at 7.

The indictment charges that Mr. Blankenship and others at Massey instructed relevant

employees that it was acceptable to commit violations of MSHA regulations and that safety for

miners was less important than production of coal. As the defense has repeatedly said, and by

way of examples only, exculpatory evidence in this case includes any and all information tending

to show that:

1. Mr. Blankenship, any of his subordinates in management or at UBB, or any of his
alleged co-conspirators sought to comply with safety standards, sought to reduce
safety citations or hazards, and/or were concerned with violations of safety
standards;

2. Mr. Blankenship, any of his subordinates in management or at UBB, or any of his
alleged co-conspirators devoted time, attention, resources and/or funds to safety.

3. Mr. Blankenship, any of his subordinates in management or at UBB, or any of his
alleged co-conspirators expressed concern for safety.

4. MSHA or any of its inspectors observed a compliant environment at UBB or
improvements at the mine;

5. Violations of safety regulations resulted from inadvertence, negligence or
something other than the charged conspiracy to willfully violate them.

6. Notice of MSHA inspections was given, if at all, for purposes other than
concealment or that the practice was not unique to UBB;

7. MSHA itself provided notice of its inspections;

8. Mr. Blankenship, any of his subordinates in executive management or at UBB, or
any of his alleged co-conspirators were unaware that notice of MSHA inspections
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was given at UBB or that it was used to conceal safety violations from MSHA;
and,

9. Massey – including Mr. Blankenship, the Board of Directors, members of
management, UBB employees, and/or alleged co-conspirators – did not
“condone” violations of safety standards and “strove” to comply with them.

Brady and its progeny also require production of any and all information tending to impeach any

government witness, including without limitation information relating to bias, plea bargaining,

threats of prosecution, and promises.

These are just examples of the kinds of information that the government must produce or

identify. In the circumstances of this case, where proof of guilt on all counts depends upon

establishment of a specific state of intent and knowledge, the universe of evidence that negates

those mens rea elements is broad. Whether the government believes any specific item

effectively establishes the defense is entirely irrelevant.

D. Requested Relief

In light of the above, the defense seeks the following relief:

First, the defense seeks an opportunity to present to the Court, ex parte and in camera,

confidential information from the defense investigation that demonstrates that the government

has failed to produce certain exculpatory information. It is necessary for the defense to present

this information ex parte and in camera, because it would reveal, inter alia, defense work

product. See United States v. Moussaoui, No. 01-455-A, 2002 WL 32001775, at *1 n.1 (E.D.

Va. Nov. 5, 2002) (defendant may make ex parte submission to court in support of request to

compel production of evidence “[i]f articulating the relevance of this [evidence] will reveal

defense strategy”); United States v. Beckford, 964 F. Supp. 1010, 1020 (E.D. Va. 1997)

(defendant may make ex parte submissions to court in support of request for Rule 17(c)

subpoena in order to avoid “disclosing the defense to the Government”).
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Second, the defense seeks an order compelling the government to produce all handwritten

and typewritten notes taken by any government employee of witness interviews and attorney

proffers. The Court already granted the defense motion on the portions of such notes containing

Brady information or their substance. See ECF No. 279. The government has produced no

information from any of the notes of its witness interviews (of the hundreds it conducted) and

three sentences of carefully-worded summaries of two attorney proffers. Given its failure to

properly apply Brady and to produce or identify plainly exculpatory material, production of all

notes is the only way to ensure that all exculpatory information is provided to the defense. In

support of this request, the defense notes the following legal principles:

• The Court has discretion to order this relief. See, e.g., United States v. Flores-

Duran, 531 Fed. Appx. 348, 351 (4th Cir. 2013) (district court has “broad

discretion to fashion the appropriate remedy for a party’s discovery violation”);

United States v. Hammoud, 381 F.3d 316, 336 (4th Cir. 2004), vacated in part on

other grounds, 543 U.S. 1097 (2005) (district court has “substantial discretion in

dealing with a violation of a discovery order”); see also Fed. R. Crim. P.

16(d)(2)(D) (if party fails to comply with Rule 16 discovery obligations, court

may “enter any . . . order that is just under the circumstances”).

• Brady requires production of government notes of witness interviews. See, e.g.,

United States v. Andrews, 532 F.3d 900, 906 (D.C. Cir. 2008) (“[I]t seems too

plain for argument that rough notes from any witness interview could prove to be

Brady material.”); Monroe v. Angelone, 323 F.3d 286, 312-15 (4th Cir. 2003);

United States v. Jordan, 316 F.3d 1215, 1256 n.89 (11th Cir. 2003). The

Department of Justice itself moved to dismiss the conviction of Senator Ted
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Stevens after it discovered that the prosecutors had failed to disclose exculpatory

notes of a witness interview. See United States v. Stevens, No. 08-231 (D.D.C.)

(ECF Nos. 324 & 435).

-- and --

• Production by the government of sanitized interview memos is not a substitute

for the production of its notes of such interviews. See, e.g., Andrews, 532 F.3d at

906 (“[T]he possible importance of the rough notes . . . is not diminished in cases

where the notes form the basis of a final report that the prosecution turns over to

the defense.”); Jordan, 316 at 1256 n.89 (“[I]t matters not whether exculpatory or

impeaching material is in the form of raw notes, a 302, or an interoffice

communication: if the document contains exculpatory or impeaching

information, the prosecution is duty bound to disclose it.”). Indeed, it is well

settled in this Circuit that “[r]edundancy . . . does not excuse disclosure

obligations” and that “the prosecution has a duty to disclose material even if it

may seem redundant.” Monroe, 323 F.3d at 301.

In the alternative to an order compelling production of all notes, the defense requests an order

requiring the government to lodge with the Court for in camera review (or, at a minimum, for

preserving the appellate record), all handwritten and typewritten notes it took of witness

interviews and attorney proffers.

Third, the defense seeks an order compelling the government to produce or identify all

documents possessed by MSHA that contain exculpatory information (properly defined),

including most importantly material that the government has not produced to date. This category

of information is one of the subjects of a separate, pending motion (which concerns not only
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Brady information in the possession of MSHA, but also Rule 16 information in MSHA’s

possession). See ECF Nos. 261, 273, 276. But even before reaching that motion, in the Order

now at issue, the Court granted broad relief and “direct[ed] the United States to designate and

disclose to defense counsel any and all Brady material by the close of business on June 22,

2015.” ECF No. 279 at 14 (emphasis added). In response, the government failed to identify any

MSHA material at all while making plain that it was employing an erroneous standard for

defining exculpatory material – demonstrating that any prior review of MSHA material for

Brady information by the government, to the extent it even conducted one, was flawed.

Accordingly, the defense requests relief on the MSHA documents in this motion as well.

Fourth, the defense seeks an order compelling the government to identify from within its

production all exculpatory documents in compliance with the proper application of Brady as set

forth above. The Court already granted this relief, see ECF No. 279, but the government has not

provided the full relief ordered. Its response to the order while identifying documents that

“Defendant might claim are Brady material,” Ex. A at 1, is incomplete and based on an incorrect

view of what is exculpatory. The government therefore must be ordered to supplement its

identifications using the correct standard. As noted previously, and as the Court recognized in its

initial order on the subject, this relief is necessary in light of the massive volume of material in

which exculpatory material is buried and the inability of the defense to locate many such

documents – including handwritten documents – via electronic searches.
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CONCLUSION

For the reasons set forth above, the defense respectfully requests that the Court enter an

order granting this relief.

Dated: July 8, 2015 Respectfully submitted,

/s/ William W. Taylor, III
William W. Taylor, III
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Eric R. Delinsky
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/s/ James A. Walls
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